IN THE SUPREME COURT OF ApPEALS 

OF WEST VIRGINIA 

No. 18-0653 
(CIVIL ACTION No. lS-C-117 BELOW) 

EUy'fH:':' ~\,t..~)f-! (~:..,'~r.,,- 'F:~"" 

TIMOTHY NEWTON, 
SUPRS_~~~:~~~~·~F'· '~_ tJLS 

I,-=-=~. ___ ~<""-.r_~_.~-:7_~~~~ 

PETITIONER, 

VERSUS 

MORGANTOWN MACHINE & HYDRAULICS OF WV, INC., 
AND SWANSON INDUSTRIES, INC., 

RESPONDENTS. 

ApPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MONONGALIA 

COUNTY, CIVIL ACTION No. 18-C-117 BELOW 

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF 

Drew M. Capuder 
WV State Bar 9053 
Capuder Fantasia PLLC 
Manchin Professional Building 
1543 Fairmont Avenue, Suite 101 
Fairmont, West Virginia 26554-2100 
(304) 333-5261 (Voice) 
(681) 404-6800 (Facsimile)

I. Assignments of Error 
~ -- , -

1. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendants' W. VA. R. CIY. P. 12(b)(6) 
motion to dismiss, in that the Trial Court failed, in examining the facts, to 
apply the appropriate standard of review. The Trial Court failed to accept 
all well-pled facts as true and failed to draw all reasonable inferences in 
favor of the Petitioner (Plaintiff below). 

2. The Trial Court erred in granting Defendantss Rule 12(b)(6) motion to 
dismiss, in that the Trial Court failed to apply the ruling and principles of 
Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740,749-50.559 S.E.2d 713.722-23 
(2001) (employer may not discharge employee who engages in necessary 
self defense when facing lethal imminent danger) ("Feliciano"). 

II. Introduction 

1. This is an important case for the safety and welfare of West Virginia employees. 

2. Can an employee be beaten by a co-worker so savagely that the employee is beaten 

until unconscious, with the attacker continuing to beat the employee as he lays unconscious on the 
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floor, and then be lawfully fired because the employee exercised the minimal self-defense of trying 

to push the attacker away? 

3. Is the only situation in which a West Virginia employee has any protection under 

Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740, 743, 559 S.E.2d 713,716 (2001) (employee facing 

lethal imminent danger may not be fired for using self-defense) where, ironically, the attacker is 

using a gun, knife, or other deadly weapon external to the human body? 

4. Is the employee who commits the "offense" (upon being attacked) of using 

minimally necessary force in self defense then automatically vulnerable to being lawfully fired, 

regardless of whether the attacked employee was at fault (and where the attacked employee was 

clearly not at fault), unless the attacker had a gun or other deadly weapon? 

5. All of these important questions need to be addressed because Petitioner Tim 

Newton was savagely beaten unconscious by a co-worker while working for Respondents, and 

Respondents' fired Mr. Newton because Mr. Newton committed the "fireable offense" of trying 

in self-defense to push the attacker away (Plaintiffs Original Complaint, A.R. 5, ,-r,-r 15-18; 6, ,-r,-r 

26-30; 32, ,-r 9(a)-(t); 39, ,-r,-r 2-3). 

6. The Trial Court's ruling in granting Respondents' W. VA. R. CIY. P. 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss (Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, A.R. 48) under these circumstances sends 

a clear message to West Virginia employees: If you are being beaten at work as savagely as Mr. 

Newton-in a situation where your attacker did not use a gun or comparable deadly weapon, you 

may be lawfully fired if you so much as lift a finger in using any force to defend yourself. 

7. Petitioner respectfully submits that this Court should decide whether West Virginia 

employees will be faced with that message. 
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III. Statement of the Case 

A. Procedure 

8. This is a "self-defense" wrongful discharge employment case with a single count 

(A.R. 1) under Harless v. First National Bank of Fairmont, 162 W. Va. 116,246 S.E.2d 270, 275 

(1978) (where employer's discharge of employee violates a substantial West Virginia public 

policy, the discharge may be actionable), and more specifically under Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 

210 W. Va. 740, 749-50, 559 S.E.2d 713, 722-23 (2001) (employer may not discharge employee 

who engages in necessary self-defense when facing lethal imminent danger). 

9. The Petitioner, Plaintiff below, Tim Newton, was fired on March 16,2016 after he 

was attacked and beaten on March 15, 2016 in the head until unconscious by a co-worker 

(Plaintiffs Original Complaint, A.R. 5, ~~ 15-18; 6, ~~ 26-30; 32, ~ 9(a)-(f); 39, ~~ 2-3). Petitioner 

was fired because he utilized minimal self-defense (in pushing the attacker away, A.R. 5, ~ 16; 32, 

~ 9(e)) and the attacker proceeded to beat Petitioner in the head until Petitioner was unconscious, 

and the attacker continued to beat Petitioner as Petitioner lay unconscious on the floor (A.R. 32, ~ 

9(f); 39, ~ 2). Petitioner's conduct (in applying necessary and minimal self-defense, A.R. 32, ~ 

9(a)-(f)).!) was protected and his discharge was wrongful under Feliciano. 

10. Petitioner filed suit under a single count under the Harless wrongful discharge 

doctrine, relying on the self-defense public policy recognized by this Court in Feliciano (Plaintiffs 

Original Complaint, A.R. 1). 

11. Petitioner served interrogatories and requests for production when he filed suit 

(A.R. 66, Item 1). Respondents' refused to answer the discovery responses (Motion for Protective 

1 All of the Trial Court record references in this brief are to the "Appendix (Agreed); Volume 
1 of 1" ("Appendix"), the contents of which were agreed to by the parties. The Appendix shall be referenced 
as "A.R. 
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Order, A.R. 23) and filed a motion to dismiss (A.R. 11) and a supporting memorandum (A.R. 13), 

claiming that Petitioner, when attacked by a co-worker, did not face the "lethal imminent danger" 

required in Feliciano ." 210 W. Va. at 750-51, 559 S.E.2d at 723-24. 

12. A hearing for Defendants' motion to dismiss was conducted by the Trial Court on 

May 21,2018 (A.R. 52-65,27). 

13. On June 19,2018, the Trial Court entered a final dismissal order (Order Granting 

Motion to Dismiss, A.R. 48-51), which granted Respondents' motion to dismiss (A.R. 11-12) 

because the Trial Court concluded that Petitioner did not face "lethal imminent danger" A.R. 50-

51). The dismissal order constituted a final order disposing of all issues (A.R. 51). 

14. Petitioner (Plaintiff below) seeks reversal of the Trial Court's dismissal of this case 

(Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, entered June 19, 2018, A.R. 48-51), and seeks a remand for 

new trial. The Trial Court's dismissal order granted Defendants' motion to dismiss under W. Va. 

R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Petitioner seeks his taxable appeal costs. 

B. Facts 

15. Swanson Industries, Inc. ("Swanson Industries") is the parent of Morgantown 

Machine & Hydraulics of West Virginia, Inc., and both companies were jointly controlled and 

operated, and both companies were directly involved in the employment relationship with 

Petitioner (Plaintiff's Original Complaint, A.R. 4, ~ 11 ("Complaint")). The two entities shall be 

jointly referred to as "Morgantown Machine" or "Respondents". 

16. Petitioner (Plaintiff below) Timothy Newton ("Mr. Newton") was hired by 

Morgantown Machine as a Truck Dispatcher on April 4, 2011 and worked in that position until he 

was terminated on March 16,2016. (Complaint, A.R. 5, ~ 12). 
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17. The events relevant to Mr. Newton being and attacked and then fired all occurred 

on March 15-16,2016: 

15. On March 15,2016, Mr. Newton was working in his position as 
Truck Dispatcher when another employee, a truck driver, physically 
assaulted Mr. Newton. 

16. Mr. Newton applied only necessary force to defend himself, and 
did not apply any force beyond what was necessary to protect himself. 

17. Later that day, Mr. Newton's direct boss, Eric Farnham, told Mr. 
Newton that Mr. Farnham had consulted with the human resources 
department management of Swanson Industries, Inc., and that Swanson 
Industries, Inc. made the decision to suspend Mr. Newton through 
March 17, even though they understood Mr. Newton's actions 
constituted self-defense when being attacked by the truck driver. 

18. On March 16, 2016, Mr. Farnham informed Mr. Newton that 
Swanson Industries, Inc. had reconsidered the decision, and decided to 
fire Mr. Newton instead of suspend Mr. Newton. 

19. Mr. Newton was therefore fired on March 16, 2016 by Morgantown 
Machine, despite the fact that both corporate Defendants understood 
that Mr. Newton's actions constituted self-defense. 

(Complaint, A.R. 5-6, ~~ 15-19). 

18. "The attack by the truck driver created a dangerous situation where Mr. Newton 

reasonably feared serious bodily injury or even death." (Complaint, A.R. 7, ~ 27 (emphasis 

added)). "The truck driver was the aggressor and the sole cause of the physical contact between 

the truck driver and Mr. Newton." (Complaint, A.R. 7, ~ 28). "Mr. Newton did not harm the truck 

driver who attacked Mr. Newton." (Complaint, A.R. 7, ~ 30). 

19. Mr. Newton set out additional facts in (1) Plaintiffs Opposition to Defendants' 

Motion to Dismiss (A.R. 29-38), and (2) Plaintiffs Supplement to his Opposition to Defendants' 
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Motion to Dismiss (A.R. 39-40), consisting of expected testimony by Mr. Newton and others 

concerning the criminal assault on Mr. Newton by the truck driver:1 

a. When Mr. Newton was attacked on March 15,2016: The truck driver in an 
"instant" became angry, profanely yelling, violent, and threatening towards Mr. 
Newton (Plaintiffs Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, A.R. 32, ~ 
9(a)). 

b. Mr. Newton feared that the truck driver had a weapon, but did not see one, 
except that the truck driver was holding a pen and other small objects, and Mr. 
Newton feared that the truck driver would use the pen as a weapon. Mr. Newton 
feared this because the truck driver became suddentIy so enraged and violent 
(A.R. 32, ~ 9(b)). 

c. The truck driver, yelling profanely, came so close to Mr. Newton that the truck 
driver's chest and nose were touching Mr. Newton as the truck driver 
threatened Mr. Newton (A.R. 32, ~ 9(c)). 

d. The truck driver licked his finger and flicked the brim of Mr. Newton's hat 
(A.R. 32, ~ 9(d)). 

e. The truck driver then pushed Mr. Newton over a table. As Mr. Newton righted 
himself to avoid completelty falling over the table Mr. Newton pushed the truck 
driver away from Mr. Newton (A.R. 32, ~ 9(e)). 

f. The truck driver attacked Mr. Newton by striking him with the truck driver's 
fists against Mr. Newton's head and face, knocking Mr. Newton unconscious. 
In other words, the truck driver punched Mr. Newton in the face and head so 
hard that the truck driver knocked Mr. Newton unconscious and Mr. Newton 
fell unconscious to the floor (A.R. 32, ~ 9(f)). 

g. The truck driver continued to beat Mr. Newton as Mr. Newton lay on the floor 
(Plaintiffs Supplement to his Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, 
A.R. 39, ~ 2). 

h. The day following the attack on Mr. Newton, March 16, 2016, Mr. Newton 
filed a report with the Morgantown County Sheriffs Office. During the 
investigation by the Morgantown Sheriffs office, they requested the internal 
investigation that was done by Swanson Industries. In that report it was noted 
that a witness saw the truck driver beating on Mr. Newton while he was still on 
the ground. The truck driver was charged with battery (A.R. 39, ~ 2). 

i. Not only did the truck driver punch Mr. Newton in the face and head so hard 
as to knock him out, Mr Newton suffered severe headaches following the attack 
and was taken by his wife on March 17,2016 to the WVU Ruby Memorial 

1 "Any facts asserted in a memorandum in opposition to a motion to dismiss but not contained in 
the complaint are relevant to the extent that they could be proved consistent with the allegations." State ex 
rei. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 770, 776 fn.7, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 fn.7 
(1995) (citation omitted). 
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Hospital emergency department for examination, including a CT scan of his 
head (A.R. 39, ~ 3). 

20. These facts clearly indicate that the attacking employee used a deadly weapon-

his fists, in beating Petitioner unconscious. By any reasonable evaluation, Petitioner could have 

presented facts at trial by which a jury could have found that Plaintiff faced the "lethal imminent 

danger" required by Feliciano. 

IV. 

21. There are two errors by the Trial Court in granting Respondents' motion to dismiss 

(Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, A.R. 48-51): 

a. The Trial Court failed to apply applicable standards of review for a Rule 
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, by failing to apply and treat as true those facts 
which established that Petitioner had faced "lethal imminent danger" when 
being attacked by a co-worker. 

b. The Trial Court misinterpreted Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 
740,749-50.559 S.E.2d 713. 722-23 (2001) (employer may not discharge 
employee who engages in necessary self defense when facing lethal imminent 
danger), in appearing to conclude that a brutal beating with the attacker's fists 
could not satify the requirements of Feliciano, and appearing to conclude that 
Feliciano did not apply to an attack by one employee against another employee. 

22. Petitioner was fired after he was attacked and beaten in the head with the fists of a 

co-worker on March 15,2016, and the beating was so savage that Petition fell unconscious to floor 

and the attacker continued to beat Petitioner as Petitioner lay unconscious on the floor (Complaint, 

A.R. 5, ~~ 15-18; 6, ~~ 26-30; 32, ~ 9(a)-(f); 39, ~~ 2-3). Petitioner was fired because he utilized 

minimal self-defense by pushing the attacker away (A.R. 5, ~ 16; 32, ~ 9(e)). Petitioner's conduct 
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(in applying necessary and minimal self-defense, (A.R. 32, ~ 9(a)-(f)).J) was protected and his 

discharge was wrongful under Feliciano. 

23. The Trial Court erred as a matter of law in not applying basic standards of review 

for a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss: A Trial Court "should not dismiss the complaint unless it 

appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which 

would entitle him to relief." Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va. 48, 52, 717 S.E.2d 

235,239 (2011). The Court "must accept as true all well-pled facts and must draw all reasonable 

inferences in favor ofthe non-movant"'. State ex rei. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 

194 W. Va. 770. 776,461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995). 

24. The facts presented by Petitioner below clearly provided evidence (which the Trial 

Court was required to accept as true and to draw all reasonable supporting inferences) that 

Petitioner, through no fault of his own, was brutally beaten unconscious with the fists of a co-

worker; Petitioner exercised only minimally necessary and reasonable self defense in trying to 

push the attacker away; Respondents were award of these facts, including that Petitioner was not 

at fault and applied only reasonable and necessary self-defense; and Respondents nevertheless 

fired Petitioner because he applied any force at all in trying to defend himself. 

25. The issue of whether the employee is faced with imminent lethal force should be 

and is ajury question. and it is not appropriate (and is not consistent with the applicable standards 

of review for a motion to dismiss) for the Trial Court to usurp that issue and take it away from the 

JUry. 

J All of the Trial Court record references in this brief are to the "Appendix (Agreed); Volume 
1 of 1" ("Appendix"), the contents ofwhich were agreed to by the parties. The Appendix shall be referenced 
as "A.R. 
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26. The Trial Court misapplied Feliciano's requirement that the substantial public 

policy of self-defense is limited to circumstances involving "lethal imminent danger". The Trial 

Court in concluding that Petitioner's circumstances did not involve "weapons, dangerous 

circumstances, or a threat of lethal imminent danger", ignored the allegations by Petitioner and 

apparently incorrectly assumed that there could not be "lethal imminent danger" to satisfy 

Feliciano without the presence of a gun or some other deadly weapon external to the human body 

(Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, A.R. 50-51). The Trial Court incorrectly concluded that 

human fists used in a brutal beating could not be deadly weapons capable of creating "lethal 

imminent danger." 

27. There is absolutely nothing in Feliciano which requires in all circumstances a gun 

or comparable deadly external weapon, and there is absolutely nothing in Feliciano which states 

or suggests that it does not apply when the employee is attacked by another employee. 

28. This Court in State v. Painter, 135 W. Va. 106, 115,63 S.E.2d 86, 92-93 (1950) 

held that human fists may be considered deadly weapons "by often repeated, and long continued 

blows applied to the vital and delicate parts of the body of a defenseless, unresisting man on the 

ground." 135 W. Va. at 115,63 S.E.2d at 92-93 (quoting M'Whirt 's Case, 3 Gratt. 594 (Virginia 

1846)). 

29. This Court made it clear in Feliciano that its holding applied to situations where 

the plaintiff-employee is attacked by another employee. This Court in Feliciano rejected the 

holdings from other jurisdictions which arguably held that violence amongst co-workers could not 

support a public policy wrongful discharge claim. This Court noted that some "states have found, 

as we have, the right to self-defense constitutes a substantial public policy," and "other courts have 

declined to adopt this position." Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740,750 fn.10, 559 S.E.2d 
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713, 723 fn.10 (2001). Those decisions from other jurisdictions that this Court described as 

"declin[ing] to adopt" the holding in Feliciano were those decisions which refused to recognize a 

public policy exception for violence involving 2 co-workers: McLaughlin v. Barclays American 

Corp., 95 N.C.App. 301, 382 S.E.2d 836 (1989); and Scott v. Extracorporeal, Inc., 376 Pa.Super. 

90, 545 A.2d 334 (1988). 

30. Thus, Feliciano clearly applies to workplace attacks involving two employees, and 

clearly applies to violence not involving guns, as long as the employee is faced with "lethal 

imminent danger." With that understanding, Respondents' motion to dismiss should have been 

easily denied because Petitioner presented allegations below so that he could have presented facts 

at trial consistent with Feliciano entitling him to relief. See Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack, 

228 W. Va48, 52, 717 S.E.2d 235, 239 (2011) (Trial Court "should not dismiss the complaint 

unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim 

which would entitle him to relief."). 

V. State~~I1~I~~gCirding()ral Arg~I11~I1_t_Ci_I1~I?~«:i_si()_I1_. __ ____ . ___ _ 

31. On one level, the issues in this case have been authoritatively decided in Feliciano 

v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740, 743, 559 S.E.2d 713, 716 (2001) (employee facing lethal 

imminent danger may not be fired for using self-defense) and Burke v. Wetzel County Commission, 

240 W. Va. 709, 815 S.E.2d 520, 528 (2018) (12(b)(6) dismissal is permitted only where it is clear 

that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the 

allegations). Therefore, oral argument under W. VA. R. ApP. P. 18(a)(3) is not necessary unless the 

Court determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. 

32. On another level, if the Court determines that it is appropriate to clarify the scope 

and contours of Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740, 743, 559 S.E.2d 713, 716 (2001), 

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF PAGE 10 



then an important issue for West Virginia employees is at stake, and oral argument is requested, 

either under W. VA. R. App. P. 20(a)(2) (oral argument for cases of fundamental public importance) 

or W. VA. R. App. P. 19(a)(4) (oral argument for cases involving a narrow issue of law). For oral 

arguments under Rules 20 and 19, Petitioner respectfully submits oral argument under Rule 20 is 

appropriate (see W. VA. R. App. P. 19(9)(2)), followed by an opinion under W. VA. R. App. P. 

20(g)(2) or W. VA. R. App. P. 19(9)(1). 

VI. Argument: The Trial Court's Rule 12(b)(6) Dismissal Should be Reversed and 
Remanded 

A. Standard of Review for Motions to Dismiss 

1. When addressing a motion to dismiss under W. VA. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), a Trial 

Court "should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove 

no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, 

Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va48, 52, 717 S.E.2d 235, 239 (2011). "Complaints are to be read liberally

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