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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Neither of the two assignments of error raised by Mr. Newton sets forth any valid reason 

for this Court to disturb the Trial Court's ruling. Mr. Nev.rton first argues that the Trial Court did 

not apply the proper standard of review for a motion to dismiss under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), 

because it failed to "treat as true those facts which established that Petitioner had faced 'lethal 

imminent danger' when being attacked by a co-worker. ", (Pet'r's Br. at 7). But the Trial Court's 

Order makes clear that the Court understood and applied the correct and oft-repeated standard 

requiring it to "accept the allegations as true" and "construe the same in the light most favorable to 

Plaintiff." (A.R. 49). The Trial Court noted specifically that it "should not dismiss the complaint 

unless it appears beyond doubt that plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claims 

which would entitle him to relief." (A.R.49). 

What Mr. Newton characterizes as application of the wrong standard actually is the result 

of application of the correct standard to the allegations in his Complaint. The Trial Court found 

that, viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Newton, his allegations made clear that the self-

defense exception to the at-will employment doctrine did not apply. (A.R. 50). The Trial Court 

wrote: 

Plaintiff was engaged in an altercation with a coworker that did not involve 
weapons, dangerous circumstances, or a threat of lethal imminent danger. The facts 
in this case do not describe the substantial public policy exception intended by 
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Feliciano. There is no factual basis 1ll Plaintiff s claims that meet the narrow 
Feliciano standard. 

(A.R. 50-51). 

The Trial Court was bound to, and did view Mr. Newton's allegations in the light most 

favorable to him. But it also was bound to apply Feliciano in a manner true to its narrow 

parameters. What Mr. Newton describes in his assignment of error as application of the wrong 

standard for a 12(b)(6) motion instead is simply the Trial Court's correct application of West 

Virginia law to the facts alleged. 

In his second and final assignment of error, Mr. Newton argues that the Trial Court 

misinterpreted Feliciano when it held that the facts of this case do not satisfy its strict 

requirements. Mr. Newton focuses entirely on what Feliciano does not say, and misses what it 

does say: the self-defense exception to the at-will doctrine is to be invoked sparingly and only in 

the most dangerous of circumstances. Mr. Newton's argument overlooks Feliciano's context, 

which exemplifies the type of situation worthy of the self-defense exception: an employee 

confronted with a deadly weapon. Mr. Newton's interpretation of Feliciano contradicts case law 

from other jurisdictions on the very same issue. It is Mr. Newton, not the Trial Court, who has 

gravely misinterpreted Feliciano. Under any reasonable analysis, the facts alleged by Mr. Newton 

do not measure up to Feliciano's demanding standard. 

From a policy perspective, for this Court to accept Mr. Newton's argument would have 

disastrous consequences. First, permitting Mr. Newton's claim to proceed would contradict this 

Court's clear precedent. This Court has made clear that a substantial public policy exception to the 

at-will rule must be "clearly recognized" and cannot be "too general to provide any specific 

guidance or is so vague that it is subject to different interpretations." Birthisel v. Tri-Cities Health 

Servs. Corp., 188 W. Va. 371, 377, 424 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1992). Mr. Newton seeks an 
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interpretation of Feliciano that would allow him to put the reasonableness of his fear of "lethal 

imminent danger"-rather than the actual presence of any such danger-at issue in front of a jury. 

(Pet'r's Br. at 8). This is precisely what Birthisel, Feliciano, and common sense, forbid. 

More importantly, for this Court to reverse the Trial Court and allow Mr. Newton's 

allegations to stand would severely undermine an employer's ability to regulate its workforce and 

enforce zero-tolerance policies against workplace violence. In this day and age, there surely are 

few reasons for an employee's discharge more important and compelling than his or her 

involvement in a physical altercation at work. A ruling in Mr. Newton's favor would put West 

Virginia employers in the untenable position of having to assign blame in every workplace fight 

and defend litigation by any discharged employee who ends up being regarded as the more 

aggressive of the two combatants. Zero-tolerance workplace violence policies, under which any 

person engaged in a physical altercation at work is subject to discharge, could not stand. Nothing 

in Feliciano suggests that this Court intended such a perverse result. The Trial Court was correct 

in so holding. 

For all these reasons, this Court should affirm the judgment below. 

III. ST ATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is unnecessary in this case because the law regarding the issue presented has 

been clearly defined by this Court and the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in 

the briefs and record. The facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and 

record, and oral argument would not significantly aid the decisional process. If the Court 

determines that oral argument is necessary, then argument under W. Va. R. App. P. 19 is 

appropriate because the appeal involves assignments of error in the application of settled law. The 

appeal is appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under W. Va. R. App. P. 2l. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de 

novo. Roth v. DeFelice Care, Inc., 226 W. Va. 214, 700 S.E.2d 183 (2010). Dismissal is 

appropriate pursuant to Rule 12(b)( 6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure if the plaintiff 

has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The sole 

purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss is to test the legal sufficiency of the complaint. Syl. 

Pt. 2, State ex rei. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. 770,461 S.E.2d 516 

(1995); accord Syl. Pt. 2, Nolan v. Virginia Ins. Reciprocal, 224 W. Va. 372, 686 S.E.2d 23 

(2009). A motion to dismiss should be granted where "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff 

can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." Roth v. 

DeFelice Care, Inc., 226 W. Va. 214, 219, 700 S.E.2d 183, 188 (2010) (quoting Chapman v. Kane 

Transfer Co., 160 W. Va. 530,236 S.E.2d 207 (1977)). A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) 

allows a circuit court to weed out unfounded lawsuits. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. 

Va. at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522. 

B. The Trial Court Correctly Applied the 12(b)(6) Standard of Review When It 
Concluded that Mr. Newton Could Prove No Set of Facts Entitling Him to 
Relief under Feliciano's Narrow Standard. 

In Feliciano v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 210 W. Va. 740, 559 S.E.2d 713 (2001), this Court created a 

narrow legal standard for finding a self-defense public policy exception to at-will employment. 

The plaintiff in Feliciano was employed as a retail sales clerk by 7-Eleven. Id. at 743, 559 S.E.2d 

at 716. In the early morning hours, a woman wearing a mask and pointing a firearm entered the 

store and demanded that the store employees give her the store's money. Id. While the robber was 

preoccupied with another clerk, the plaintiff grabbed her, disarmed her, and restrained her until 
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law enforcement authorities arrived. Jd. Following the incident, 7-Eleven tenninated the plaintiff 

for failure to comply with its company policy which prohibited employees from interfering or 

engaging with a store robbery. Jd. 

The plaintiff brought a cause of action for wrongful discharge, alleging that 7-Eleven 

violated a substantial public policy when it fired him for exercising his right to self-defense. Jd. 

After removal, the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia certified 

the question for this Court: Whether the right of self-defense is a substantial public policy 

exception to the at-will employment rule. 

In its consideration of this question, the Court relied upon Birthisel v. Tri-Cities Health 

Servs. Corp., which stated: 

[t]he term "substantial public policy" implies that the policy 
principle will be clearly recognized simply because it is substantial. 
An employer should not be exposed to liability where a public policy 
standard is too general to provide any specific guidance or is so 
vague that it is subject to different interpretations. 

188 W. Va. 371, 377,424 S.E.2d 606, 612 (1992) (emphasis added). 

The Feliciano court recognized a substantial public policy for self-defense, but held that 

the right must be "limited in its scope and available in only the most dangerous circumstances." 

Feliciano, 210 W. Va. at 749, 559 S.E.2d at 722. Acknowledging an employer's countervailing 

duty to safeguard its employees, the Court limited its holding and stated: "Thus, the right to self-

defense in response to lethal imminent danger is a substantial public policy exception to the at will 

employment doctrine and will support a cause of action for wrongful discharge." Jd. at 750-751, 

559 S.E.2d at 723-724 (emphasis added). 

Mr. Newton first argues that the Trial Court failed to apply the standard applicable on 

motions under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) by not crediting his allegation that he reasonably feared 
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serious bodily injury or even death. (A.R. 7, ~ 27) (emphasis added). At the outset, Mr. Newton's 

claim that he reasonably feared serious bodily injury or death is difficult to grasp. In his opposition 

briefs to Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Newton claims that he "feared that the truck driver 

had a weapon, but did not see one, except that the truck driver was holding a pen and other small 

objects, and Mr. Newtonfem·ed that the truck driver would use the pen as a weapon. Mr. Newton 

feared this because the truck driver became suddenly so enraged and violent. (A.R. 32, ~ 

9(b))(emphasis added). It appears that Mr. Nev.rton first alleges that he feared his coworker had a 

weapon upon no basis whatsoever. Then, Mr. Newton switches gears to allege that he feared the 

pen itself would be used as a lethal weapon. 

Mr. Nev.rton alleges that the coworker then attempted to push him over a table and Mr. 

Newton pushed the coworker away to avoid completely falling over the table. (Pet'r's Br. at 6, ~ 

19(e); A.R. 32, ~ 9(e)) (emphasis added). This was not a response to any lethal imminent force as 

explicitly required by Feliciano; it is, by Mr. Newton's own admission, a response to keep from 

falling over the table completely. At no point does Mr. Newton allege that he made any attempt to 

withdraw, retreat, or disengage from the altercation. Petitioner has made clear that these facts 

comprise the testimony that Mr. Nev.rton would offer in support of this claim. (Pet'r's Br. at 6). 

Mr. Nev.rton's claim that he reasonably feared serious bodily injury or death-and acted in 

response to it--cannot be supported by these facts. Furthermore, this Court in Feliciano did not 

create a self-defense public policy exception for an individual who "reasonably fears" lethal 

imminent danger. Feliciano, in no uncertain terms, recognizes a self-defense exception when an 

employee acts "in response" to lethal imminent danger. Feliciano, 210 W. Va. at 751,559 S.E.2d 

at 724. By its own language, the Feliciano court determined that lethal imminent danger must be 

present in an objective sense. There is no "reasonable fear" element to this test, and for good 
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reason. The Court relied on the edict in Birthisel v. Tri-Cities Health Servs. Corp. that "an 

employer should not be exposed to liability where a public policy standard is too general to 

provide any specific guidance or is so vague that it is subject to different interpretations." 188 W. 

Va. 371, 377, 424 S.E.2d 606,612 (1992) (emphasis added). Mr. Newton's argument that a jury 

should determine whether an employee faces lethal imminent force flies in the face of Birthisel. It 

also defies Feliciano's own command that this public policy be "available in only the most 

dangerous circumstances." Feliciano, 210 W. Va. at 749,559 S.E.2d at 722 (emphasis added). The 

Trial Court rationally determined that the threshold circumstances were not present here. 

The Trial Court correctly interpreted Feliciano to require an objective presence of lethal 

imminent force for a legally valid claim. The Trial Court accepted all of Mr. Newton's allegations 

as true. However, the court found that there was no lethal imminent danger that is a baseline 

requirement for the self-defense exception under Feliciano. The Trial Court complied with the 

Rule 12(b)(6) standard and properly exercised its duty to "weed out unfounded lawsuits." State ex 

ref. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W. Va. at 776, 461 S.E.2d at 522. Thus, the 

Trial Court did not err when it dismissed Mr. Newton's claim. 

C. The Trial Court Correctly Interpreted Feliciano to Preclude the Self-Defense 
Exception to the At-Will Doctrine in a Case Involving a Weaponless Workplace 
Altercation. 

Mr. Newton also insists that the Trial Court misinterpreted Feliciano to apply only when a 

deadly weapon external to the body is present. (Perr's Br. at 20, ~ 29). In his appeal to have 

Feliciano interpreted much more broadly, Mr. Newton asks this Court to ignore the context of 

Feliciano and focus instead on what Feliciano does not say: "The right to self-defense in response 

to lethal imminent danger posed by a weapon is a substantial public policy exception to the at will 

employment doctrine and will support a cause of action for wrongful discharge." This Court in 

12 



Feliciano did not explicitly state in its holding that "lethal imminent danger" is caused by a 

weapon external to the body. However, any reasonable interpretation of Feliciano must consider 

the facts from which this Court formulated its "lethal imminent danger" test. Feliciano dealt with 

an armed robbery. The objective presence of a firearm wielded during the commission of a felony 

certainly contributed to this Court's impression of "lethal imminent danger." The danger 

contemplated by this Court in Feliciano simply was not present in this case. 

Mr. Newton argues that his attacker did have a deadly weapon: his fists. In support of this 

argument, Mr. Newton has cited a criminal case, State v. Painter, 135 W. Va. 106, 63 S.E.2d 86 

(1950), which discusses the potential for fists to become deadly weapons. (Pet'r's Br. at 21, ~ 33). 

That case speculated that blows to the body by human fists, if repeated or applied to vulnerable 

parts of the human body, can sometimes be regarded as deadly weapons. Id. at 115, 63 S.E.2d at 

92-93. 

First and foremost, this argument has little use in this context. Mr. Newton's discussion of 

Painter relates to a finding of malice that would elevate a murder charge in a criminal case. This 

case does not involve the distinction between criminal charges or levels of criminal intent. Rather, 

Mr. Newton's claim is a civil one, alleging a violation of a substantial public policy exception to 

the at-will employment rule. The at-will doctrine and Feliciano provide the legal framework for 

this case, and the law is clear that employees like Mr. Newton may be lawfully discharged under 

the circumstances here. 

Nevertheless, Mr. Newton's assertion-that fists can, in the right situation, cause deadly 

force-is precisely the argument militating against him because it advocates for an unmanageable 

standard. In which cases do fists pose a minimal threat, or a deadly one? Most fistfights are 

unremarkable, while few unexpectedly culminate in deadly force. Does the severity of the threat 
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depend on the employees' respective sizes or statures? Even just one strike to a delicate part of the 

body can cause deadly force; would that situation fall within Feliciano's sweep? Common sense 

dictates that it cannot. Feliciano's directive that the self-defense exception be "limited in its scope 

and available in only the most dangerous circumstances" clearly does not extend to all the

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